W00A

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 18 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By [Signature]  
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD EARL WALKER, :

Petitioner, :

vs. :

Case No. 78,759

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

\_\_\_\_\_ :

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE  
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA  
SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN  
PUBLIC DEFENDER  
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

TIMOTHY A. HICKEY  
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER  
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 861588

Public Defender's Office  
Polk County Courthouse  
P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD  
Bartow, FL 33830  
(813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 25, 1989, the State Attorney for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Hillsborough County, Florida, filed an information charging Petitioner, RICHARD EARL WALKER, with two counts of robbery with a firearm, contrary to sections 812.13(1) and (2)(a), Florida Statutes (1989); and four counts of kidnapping, contrary to section 787.01(1)(a)2, Florida Statutes (1989). (R 245-257) On November 13, 1989, the State Attorney filed a superseded information upgrading the kidnapping charges to armed kidnapping, pursuant to section 775.087(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1989). (R 249-251)

On November 14, 1989, Mr. Walker was tried by a jury. (R 1-195) The jury convicted Mr. Walker of two counts of the lesser included offense of robbery with a weapon; three counts of armed kidnapping; and one count of the lesser included offense of kidnapping. (R 188-189, 286-288) On November 15, 1989, the trial court adjudicated Mr. Walker guilty and sentenced him to thirty years Florida state prison for each of the two robbery with a weapon convictions; forty years Florida state prison for each of the three armed kidnapping convictions; and forty years Florida state prison for kidnapping, all to run concurrently. (R 213-214, 290-298) The sentencing guideline scoresheet recommended a sentence of twenty-seven to forty years Florida state prison. (R 299-300)

On December 12, 1989, the trial court denied Mr. Walker's motion for a new trial. (R 301, 314) On January 5, 1990, Mr.

Walker filed a timely notice of appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal. (R 302)

In Walker v. State, 585 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed Mr. Walker's convictions and sentences, with one judge dissenting as to the kidnapping and armed kidnapping convictions. This court accepted jurisdiction of Mr. Walker's appeal on February 24, 1992.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Walker admitted he robbed the clerk and a customer of a Majik Market convenience store at approximately 9:30 p.m. on August 5, 1989. (R 94-96) Mr. Walker denied carrying a gun during the robberies. (R 95, 96) Mr. Walker testified he tucked an L-shaped stick into the front waistband of his pants, under his shirt, to simulate a gun. (R 95, 100) Mr. Walker entered the Majik Market and instructed the clerk to open the cash register. (R 100) Mr. Walker indicated he had a gun. (R 100) Mr. Walker may also have threatened to shoot the clerk. (R 99) Mr. Walker admitted taking money from the cash register and \$40 from a Majik Market customer. (R 96, 108)

Mr. Walker instructed the clerk, the clerk's two teenaged relatives, and a customer to go to the back of the store and lie down on the floor. (R 108-111) Mr. Walker threatened these four people with the object under his shirt. (R 109) Mr. Walker estimated the distance to the back of the store to be approximately twenty feet. (R 111) Mr. Walker admitted instructing the four people to the back of the store to make his escape and reduce the risk of getting caught. (R 116)

Helen East, the twenty-three-year-old clerk, testified Mr. Walker instructed her to give him all the money or he would shoot her. (R 23) Mr. Walker placed his hand on his waist and stated he had a gun. (R 23-24) Although Helen East saw a bulge in Mr. Walker's waist, she never saw a gun. (R 24, 32) After Helen East opened the cash register, Mr. Walker took \$96 from the drawer. (R

24-25) Mr. Walker began arguing with a store customer who refused to hand over his wallet. (R 25) Helen East eventually convinced the customer to give Mr. Walker the money. (R 25-26)

Helen East testified Mr. Walker next instructed all four people in the store to go to the far corner of the store and lie down on the floor. (R 27-28) Helen East estimated the distance to be forty feet. (R 28, 32) While Mr. Walker continued to argue with the customer, Helen East walked to the back of the store and got down to her knees. (R 29)

Seventeen-year-old Robin Gallagher testified she was at the Majik Market visiting her sister, Helen East. (R 35, 54) After Helen East opened the cash register, Mr. Walker lifted his shirt. (R 37, 54) Robin Gallagher testified she saw the handle of a gun protruding from the top of Mr. Walker's pants. (R 37, 39, 45) Mr. Walker instructed Robin Gallagher to "get over there." (R 37, 39) Robin Gallagher complied by moving approximately thirteen feet to the "lefthand" side of the store and lying down on the floor. (R 37, 39-40, 42)

Robin Gallagher testified Mr. Walker instructed all four people to go to the corner of the store near the soda fountain and beverage cooler. (R 41, 60) Robin Gallagher estimated the distance to the corner of the store to be approximately thirty feet. (R 42) Robin Gallagher lied down on the floor while Helen East and her cousin, Pamela Allen, knelt down in the corner of the store. (R 41-42)



Fourteen-year-old Pamela Allen testified she was at the Majik Market with her cousins Helen East and Robin Gallagher. (R 55-56) Mr. Walker instructed Pamela Allen to go to the corner of the store and lie down. (R 58) Pamela Allen estimated the distance to the corner of the store to be thirty feet. (R 59) Pamela Allen knelt down on her knees but did not lie on the floor. (R 60) Pamela Allen could see out the store windows while standing in this corner, but not while kneeling. (R 62)

Seventy-one-year-old Garland Haga testified he was at the Majik Market talking with the clerk before starting his shift as an a security guard at a nearby apartment complex. (R 64-66) After taking the money from the cash register, Mr. Walker ordered Garland Haga to hand over his wallet. (R 67-68) Garland Haga initially refused, but eventually gave Mr. Walker the forty dollars from the wallet. (R 67-68) Garland Haga testified Mr. Walker had a bulge in his waistband. (R 68) Garland Haga never saw a gun. (R 72)

Mr. Walker ordered Garland Haga to go to the corner of the store with the three women. (R 68-70) Mr. Walker threatened to shoot Garland Haga if he did not comply. (R 68-69) Garland Haga testified he moved only ten feet before Mr. Walker left the store. (R 69) Garland Haga never went the rest of the way back to the corner of the store. (R 69) After Mr. Walker left, Helen East immediately locked the door and called the police. (R 29)

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The instant facts are insufficient to support Mr. Walker's four kidnapping convictions. The movement of the Majik Market clerk and customers during the course of the robberies fails to satisfy the Ferguson three-prong test. See, Ferguson v. State, 533 So.2d 763 (1988). The movement of ten to forty feet within one room of the Majik Market was slight, insignificant, and incidental to the robberies. Mr. Walker did not move anyone to a more secluded location; use physical force and violence; or increase the risk of physical harm beyond that inherent in the robberies. The movement also did not make the robberies substantially easier to commit or substantially lessen the risk of detection.

The confinement of the Majik Market clerk and customers during the course of the robberies also fails to satisfy the Ferguson three-prong test. The confinement was slight, inconsequential, and incident to the robberies because Mr. Walker did not move anyone from the room or use any physical restraint. This brief confinement lasted only as long as it took to complete the robberies. Such confinement is inherent in the robberies themselves. Furthermore, this minimal confinement did not make the robberies substantially or significantly lessen the risk of detection. Broadening the definition of kidnapping to encompass the instant facts would improperly strip the offense of kidnapping of any added deterrent effect.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT  
TO CONVICT APPELLANT OF KIDNAPPING?

Mr. Walker was convicted of four counts of kidnapping under section 787.01(1)(a)2, Florida Statutes (1989), which defines kidnapping as:

forcibly, secretly, or by threat confining, abducting, or imprisoning another person against his will and without lawful authority, with intent to... [c]ommit or facilitate commission of any felony.

Section 787.01(1)(a)2, Florida Statutes (1989).

Construing section 787.01(1)(a)2 literally would improperly convert almost every forcible felony into kidnapping. Mobley v. State, 409 So.2d 1031, 1034 (Fla. 1982); Harkins v. State, 380 So.2d 524, 528 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). Therefore, this court adopted a three-pronged test to determine whether movement or confinement during the commission of another felony is sufficient to justify an additional conviction for kidnapping. Ferguson v. State, 533 So.2d 763, 764 (Fla. 1988); Faison v. State, 426 So.2d 963, 965 (Fla. 1983).

To support a separate conviction for kidnapping, Ferguson requires that the movement or confinement:

- (a) must not be slight, inconsequential and merely incidental to the other crime;
- (b) must not be of the kind inherent in the nature of the other crime; and

(c) must have some significance independent of the other crime in that it makes the other crime substantially easier of commission or substantially lessens the risk of detection. (emphasis added)

Ferguson, 533 So.2d at 764; Faison, 426 So.2d at 965. To constitute kidnapping, movement or confinement must satisfy each of the three Ferguson prongs. Kirtsey v. State, 511 So.2d 744, 745 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). Because the instant facts fail to satisfy each of the three Ferguson prongs, the Second District Court of Appeal erred in affirming Mr. Walker's four kidnapping convictions.

The instant facts fail the first prong of Ferguson because both the movement and confinement were slight, inconsequential, and merely incidental to the robberies. Florida courts consider several factors to determine whether movement during the course of a forcible felony justifies an additional conviction for kidnapping. These factors include the distance moved; the degree of force and violence used; the relative seclusion of the location moved to; and any substantially increased risk of physical or psychological harm caused by the movement. See, Ferguson v. State, 533 So.2d 763, 764 (Fla. 1988); Faison v. State, 426 So.2d 963, 966 (Fla. 1983); Bush v. State, 526 So.2d 992, 994 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); Friend v. State, 385 So.2d 696, 697 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980)<sup>1</sup> Although no single factor is determinative, none of these factors indicate the instant movement was significant.

---

<sup>1</sup> See also, United States v. Howard, 918 F.2d 1529 (11th Cir. 1990) (considering the duration and increased risk of harm caused by the movement or detention), cert. denied, 111 S.Ct. 2240 (1991); Virgin Islands v. Berry, 604 F.2d 221, 227 (3rd Cir. 1979).

The distances moved in the instant case were very short. According to Garland Haga's own testimony, he moved no more than ten feet during the entire episode. (R 69-70) The three women in the store moved only thirty or forty feet to the other side of the same room. (R 27-28, 41-42, 58-59) Such slight and inconsequential movement does not satisfy the first prong of Ferguson. See, Keller v. State, 586 So.2d 1258, 1262 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) (citing Faison; movement of "several feet" prior to sexual battery held slight and inconsequential under parallel false imprisonment statute); Jackson v. State, 436 So.2d 1101, 1102 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) (movement across threshold and short distance into apartment held slight and inconsequential).

The instant movement occurred solely within one room of the Majik Market building. In the factually similar case of Kirtsey v. State, 511 So.2d 744, 745 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), the court held movement of Pizza Hut employees to be slight and incidental to an armed robbery because the movement was limited to the interior of the restaurant. Similarly, in Merritt v. State, 516 So.2d 290, 291 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), the court held movement within a bedroom to be slight and inconsequential.

Several Florida courts have also approved the following illustrative example:

The forced direction of a store clerk to cross the store to open a cash register is not a kidnapping...

(emphasis added) (citation omitted). Johnson v. State, 509 So.2d 1237, 1239 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); Carron v. State, 414 So.2d 288,

289 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982), approved, 427 So.2d 192 (Fla. 1983); Harkins v. State, 380 So.2d 524, 528 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). Accordingly, the instant movement across the Majik Market was slight and inconsequential.

Other Florida cases upholding kidnapping occurring in one room are based upon extended confinement or physical restraint, rather than movement. See, Marsh v. State, 546 So.2d 33, 34 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) (bound, gagged, and wrapped in blankets for half an hour); Merritt v. State, 516 So.2d 290, 291 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (tied up with telephone cord and gagged in a bedroom; any movement in bedroom held "inconsequential"); Sanborn v. State, 513 So.2d 1380, 1381 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987) (tied to bed); Sorey v. State, 419 So.2d 810, 811 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982) (Burger King employees' hands and feet tied in restaurant). However, there was no substantial confinement in the instant case.

Slight movement may also become significant when accomplished by "substantial force and violence." Faison v. State, 426 So.2d 963 (Fla. 1983) (dragged to the back of an office, "violently" dragged from kitchen to bedroom); Bush v. State, 526 So.2d 992, 994 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) (dragged into nearby woods, thrown to the ground, and choked until unconscious).

However, Mr. Walker used only verbal threats, without any physical force or violence. Three of the four other people in the store testified Mr. Walker never used or displayed a weapon. By expressly failing to find Mr. Walker carried a firearm, the jury rejected the fourteen-year-old girl's claim that she saw a firearm.

This lack of physical force or violence further indicates the movement was slight and inconsequential.

Florida courts generally hold movement to be significant where a defendant either forces people into a building; or abducts them from a building. In Ferguson, this court held movement was significant because the defendant forced Arby's employees outside the restaurant and into a restroom located at the back of the restaurant. Ferguson, 533 So.2d at 764.

Movement into a building becomes more significant because greater seclusion increases the risk of harm. See, Panno v. State, 517 So.2d 129, 130 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (pushed to the ground and forced into house); Carter v. State, 468 So.2d 370 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (forced into apartment and tied to bathroom towel bar); Dowdell v. State, 415 So.2d 144 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) (forced from well-lit parking lot into closed restaurant). However, moving a short distance into a building remains slight and inconsequential, absent extended confinement. See, Jackson v. State, 436 So.2d 1101, 1102 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) (movement across threshold slight and insignificant when followed by brief robbery).

Absent additional factors, Florida courts hold movement from one room to another within the same building to be slight and inconsequential. Brinson v. State, 483 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (movement from room to room inside a residence); Simpkins v. State, 395 So.2d 625 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) (movement from bedroom to livingroom); Friend v. State, 385 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980) (movement to restroom in same office building). Contrast, Faison

v. State, 426 So.2d 963, 966 (Fla. 1983) (movement to area of greater seclusion within building significant when accomplished with great force and violence).

The fact that Mr. Walker did not move anyone to a more secluded location further indicates the instant movement was slight and insignificant. Mr. Walker did not force anyone into a more secluded storeroom or restroom. Both robberies were completed near the store entrance before anyone moved. Garland Haga moved only ten feet from the store entrance. The three women lied or knelt down near the soda fountain and cooler in the same room. Pamela Allen testified she could see out the windows standing in that location. (R 62)

The instant movement also failed to increase the risk of physical or psychological harm beyond that inherent in the robberies. Mr. Walker did not display a weapon or use violence to convince anyone to move. The people in the store moved only a short distance within a single room. Everyone remained together in the same room during the commission of both robberies. Furthermore, everyone remained in the same familiar surroundings of the Majik Market. See, Faison, 426 So.2d at 969 (Justice Boyd's dissenting opinion) (decreased risk of harm in familiar surroundings).

The slight, inconsequential, and incidental confinement in the instant case also fails the first prong of Ferguson. To determine whether confinement is slight, inconsequential, and incidental to another forcible felony, Florida courts consider both the degree of



control or physical restraint and the duration of the confinement. Jenkins v. State, 433 So.2d 603, 604 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); Ayendes v. State, 385 So.2d 698, 699 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980).

The degree of control in the instant confinement was minimal. There was no physical restraint. No one was locked or barricaded in a restroom, cooler, or trunk. Contrast, Parker v. State, 570 So.2d 1048 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (shoved into car trunk); Johnson v. State, 509 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (barricaded in restroom). No one was bound or gagged. Contrast, Carter v. State, 468 So.2d 370 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (tied up in restroom). Mr. Walker did not physically push or drag the three women to the far side of the room. Mr. Walker did not even order them not to move after he left the store. Contrast, Ferguson v. State, 533 So.2d 763, 764 (Fla. 1988) (defendant ordered restaurant employees to remain confined in a closed restroom).

The duration of the instant confinement was also minimal. Mr. Walker did not confine anyone for an extended time to search the store for something to steal. Both robberies were completed within a matter of minutes. Mr. Walker also left the store as soon as he completed the robberies. As demonstrated by the immediate call to the police, no one was confined after Mr. Walker completed the robberies and left the store.

Accordingly, the instant confinement also fails the third Ferguson prong because such minimal confinement could not make the robberies substantially easier to commit or substantially lessen the risk of detection. Contrast, Sorey v. State, 419 So.2d 810, 811

(Fla. 3rd DCA 1982) (leaving Burger King employees tied up after completing the robbery substantially lessened the risk of detection).

The instant confinement also fails the second prong of Ferguson because this minimal confinement was inherent in the commission of the robberies. A certain degree of confinement is necessarily inherent in a robbery, or any other forcible felony. Ferguson, 533 So.2d at 765 (Justices Kogan, Shaw, and Barkett's dissenting opinion); Simpkins, 395 So.2d at 626; Friend, 385 So.2d at 697. In Robinson v. State, 462 So.2d 471, 476 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), the court held confinement in a car during the course of a sexual battery was merely incidental and inherent in the nature of the sexual battery. In the instant case, Mr. Walker did not detain anyone inside the store beyond the time necessary to commit the robberies.

The instant movement also fail the third prong of Ferguson because such slight movement did not make the robberies substantially easier to commit or substantially lessen the risk of detection. See, Ferguson, 533 So.2d at 764. The slight movement to the corner of the store did not make the robberies substantially easier to commit because both robberies were completed near the store entrance. In addition, the instant movement could not have substantially lessened the risk of detection because both robberies occurred near the store entrance.

Everyone except Pamela Allen could already identify Mr. Walker before anyone moved. Even after the robberies were completed,

Garland Haga remained near the store entrance. Although the three women lied or knelt down on the other side of the store, they could see out the windows when standing. Mr. Walker testified he instructed everyone in the store to move in order to make his escape easier. However, as the State Attorney suggested, no one in the store would have locked Mr. Walker in the store or stopped him from leaving. Such slight movement inside a single room of the store certainly could not substantially decrease the risk of detection.

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