SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA APR 3 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ ChievDeputy Clerk

RICHARD EARL WALKER,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 78,759

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FLORIDA DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SECOND DISTRICT IN LAKELAND, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM I. MUNSEY, JR. DONNA A. PROVONSHA PEGGY QUINCE ASSISTANT ATTORNEYS GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NOS. 0152141; 0768970; 0261041 WESTWOOD CENTER, SUITE 7000 2002 NORTH LOIS AVENUE TAMPA, FLORIDA 33607-2366 AC 813 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent does not abandon its position that discretionary review cannot be based on a dissenting opinion; and, Respondent suggests that review in this case may have been improvidently granted.

Respondent submits that in a trial for kidnapping, the question of Petitioner's quilt and all questions of fact are to be determined by the trier of fact once a prima facie case is established. Petitioner was charged with kidnapping pursuant to §787.01(1)(a)2, Florida Statutes (1989)where the term "kidnapping" means forcibly, secretly, or by threat confining, abducting, or imprisoning another person against his will and without lawful authority, with intent to: Commit or faclitate commission of any felony [here robbery]. (R 249 - 251). Petitioner was convicted and appealed. The Second District affirmed with Judge Patterson filing a dissent. See, Walker v. State, 585 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). On February 24, 1992, this Court accepted jurisdiction and dispensed with oral argument.

-1-

ISSUE ONE

WHETHER THE VERDICT OF GUILTY EMBRACED ALL THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME OF KIDNAPPING.

(As Restated by Respondent)

At bar, it was the function of the jury to determine the weight of the testimony given by all witnesses and also determine the credibility including that of the Petitioner, Richard Walker. As in all cases, the jury must determine the questions of fact in issues such as Petitioner's purpose or intent in the taking and Petitioner testified. Petitioner's purpose detention. in entering the convenience store was to rob it. (R 95) Why did he rob it? Because he needed the money. (R 95) Why did he need money? joined the nation's rank of the Because he had unemployed. (R 95) Petitioner covertly displayed an object [a stick] under his pants to make the robbery easier--to make it $(R 95-96)^2$ appear that he had a gun. Petitioner admitted taking money from two victims. (R 96-97) Petitioner then testified he left the store. (R 97)

On cross-examination, Petitioner could not recall whether he threatened to blow off the head of the cashier. (R 99) Petitioner recalled his declaration: "Open the fucking cash

-2-

Petitioner had been unemployed for one week. (R 103) Petitioner resided with his parents and paid no rent. (102-103) Petitioner had been employed for ten months earning \$600.00/month and paying \$25.00/week rent. (R 104-105) Petitioner needed the proceeds of the robbery to purchase "clothes and things." (R 107) Petitioner denied that he robbed to purchase drugs. (R 108)

² There is direct evidence that Petitioner was, in fact, armed with a gun. (R 37)

register." (R 99 -100) Petitioner admitted that he lead his victims to believe he was armed. (R 100; 109) Petitioner admitted ordering his victims to the back of the store. (R 111) Petitioner admitted the use of force, compulsion, and threats in making his victims move to the back of the store. (R 109-110) Helen East testified as to why she went to the back of the store:

Q. Why did you go back there?

A. Because he told us, too, he was waving his arms around and he was getting really hyper, so I was scared. I went and my sister was right beside me.

Q. Your sister Robin?

A. Robin, Yeah.

Q. Did she go back there with you?

A. Yeah, she was right beside me when we went back there.

Q. Were you told to do anything once you went back to the corner?

A. Yes, lay down. He said, "Get back in the corner and lay down on the floor." And that's what we did.

Q. Who was the first to get on the floor?

A. Robin.

Q. Did she actually lay on the floor?

A. Yes, she laid on the floor? (R 28)

Robin Gallagher testified that Petitioner was, in fact, armed with a gun and that she was so scared while she was on her stomach that she wet her pants. (R 39-40)

The following is Petitioner's testimony as to why he ordered his victims to move to the back of the store and why he ordered them to the floor:

-3-

Q. You did that -- you ordered them back there so you can get away easier, didn't you?

A. I ordered them to the back of the store so they wouldn't stop me from leaving.

Q. You were afraid that those three girls and a seventy-one-year-old man were going to stop you from leaving?

A. I was afraid they might get in my way on the way out the door or lock the door.

Q. Okay. So you put them back there so you could get away easier, right?

A. I put them back there so they wouldn't stop me and lock the door. (R 112)

and

Q. Okay. So you thought these people -these girls and the old man who you had just robbed, you were afraid one of them was going to lock the door and keep you in?

A. No, but I was afraid that they would get in my way of something.

Q. Yeah. But you just said you were afraid somebody was going to lock the door and keep you in, isn't that what you just said?

A. No, I didn't say that.

Q. You didn't say that?

A. I said I thought one of them might get in my way or try to lock the door. (R 113)

and

Q. All right. What was the purpose of having those four people lie on the -- on the floor? Tell the jury why did you want them twenty feet away on the floor?

A. To leave the store.

Q. Excuse me?

A. To leave the store.

Q. What do you mean to leave the store?

A. To leave the store after I robbed it. I left the store.

Q. To make it easier to commit your robbery. Correct?

MR. GARLIST: Same objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Overrule the objection.

BY MR. BISCONTI:

Q. Didn't it make it easier to commit the robbery?

A. Yes, it did.

Q. Didn't it make it easier if they were flat on the floor your chances of getting caught?

A. They didn't get flat on the floor.

Q. You told them to get on the floor, didn't you?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. How do you know they didn't get on the floor?

A. Because as I was leaving, they were still up and the old man was still walking back -walking back there, so he wasn't on the floor and they wasn't on the floor. They were just in the back.

Q. But you told them to get on the floor back there to reduce the risk of getting caught in this robbery, isn't that right?

A. Yes. (R 115-116)

All female victims testified as to lying down. (R 27; 28; 40;

43; 54; 60)

Mr. Haga testified as to the following:

Q. You took the money out of your wallet?

A. I took the money out the wallet.

Q. And did you actually hand it to him?

A. Yeah. Handed it to him.

Q. Why did you hand it over to him?

A. Well, I didn't want -- didn't want to jump him for he had a bulge here in his waistband in his shirt.

Q. What did it look like, there was something under his shirt?

A. Something under his shirt and his trousers.

Q. Did he every threaten you with that?

A. Well, he told me, he said, "Get behind the -- go over there by the cooler and get behind there or I'll shoot you."

Q. Did you know where he was talking about?

A. Yeah, over with the other girls that went over there.

Q. All right. Is that when you gave him the money or is that after?

A. It was -- let's see, that was -- I gave him the money then he told me to get behind the cooler or get over by the cooler.

Q. Okay. What did you do then?

A. I walked over there, but I never did go by the cooler.

Q. Where did you go?

A. I -- I went behind the first display case.

Q. How far -- how far was it from where you were talking with the defendant to the display case?

A. Oh, I guess maybe ten foot.

Q. Why did you go over there?

A. He told me to go over there or he would shoot me. (R 68-69)

At the close of the prosecution's case, Petitioner moved for a directed verdict as to the robbery and kidnapping counts. (R The prosecution then submitted the authority of Faison v. 78-82) State, 426 So.2d 963 (Fla. 1983); Ferguson v. State, 519 So.2d 747 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); Johnson v. State, 509 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); Lamarca v. State, 515 So.2d 309 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); Taylor v. State, 481 So.2d 97 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); and, Dowdell v. State, 415 So.2d 144 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), review denied, 429 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1983) in opposition to the motion. (R In other words, there were material issues of fact to 82-83) submit to the jury. Judge Bucklew took the legal authority under advisement and retired to consider the motion. (R 89) The trial judge ruled:

> THE COURT: I've had an opportunity to read all of the cases and, Mr. Garlisi, I'm going to deny the motion for judgment of acquittal.

> And in so doing, I'm going to find that the movement, and the movement was from one side of the store to the other, was not necessary or was not inherent in the nature of the offense and not a part of the robbery. It some significance independent of has the other offense in that it made the other offense substantially easier to commit in that able he was to get away and substantially lessened the risk of detection in that they were on the floor, were told to get on the floor away from the windows.

I realize that the distance was not far, but I'm not sure that the short distance makes a whole lot of difference.

As far as the first factor, that whether it's slight or inconsequential, I think the fact that it was done to lessen the risk of detection in this case makes it not just simply incidental but of more significance.

-7-

Now, the jury may well find that it's slight and inconsequential, but I'm going to leave that decision to them if they wish to make it and I'm going to deny the motion. (R 89-90)

And, after the defense rested, the motion was again denied. (R 119).

The instructions in this prosecution defined kidnapping and informed the jury as to the law of the case. (163 - 168)There (R 186-187) were no objections to the instructions. Here, the instructions do not misstate the law; they are not misleading; and, they do not invade the province of the trier of fact. Upon proper instruction, the jury has determined, as a matter of fact, that the kidnapping [confinement] was not slight, inconsequential, or incidental to the felony. (R 164; 166; 167; 168) And, was it error to submit this question to the jury? No. For example, in James v. State, 453 So.2d 786, 791 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1098, 105 S.Ct. 608, 83 L.Ed.2d 717 (1984), Judge Rogers Padgett, on instruction, had the jury determine whether Davidson Joel James [the accomplice to Larry Clark who had committed the actual murder] killed Dorothy Satey or attempted to kill Dorothy Satey or intended that a killing take place, or intended that a lethal force would be employed. it was appropriate for the jury to make Edmund v. Just as Florida, 458 U.S. 782, 102 S.Ct. 3368, 73 L.Ed.2d 1140 (1982) determinations in James, it was just as appropriate for the jury to resolve whether these acts of Richard Earl Walker were slight and incidental to the robbery.

A guilty verdict was returned. (R 188-189) Petitioner was found guilty of two counts of robbery with a weapon; three counts

-8-

of kidnapping with a weapon; and, one count of kidnapping. (R Sentencing, in this case, is neither a 188-189) small nor inconsequential matter. The trial court might have conceivably pronounced a sentence up to life. (R 201) The sentencing was 201) because pending additional then negotiated (R of prosecutions: State of Florida v. Richard Earl Walker, Fla. 13th Case Nos. 89-12757; 89-12758; 89-12759; 89-12985; 89-12986; 89-12987; 89-12988; 89-12989; 89-13083; 89-13085; and, 89-13229 (then open prosecutions). (R 203-204) There is no question but that Petitioner has benefited.

The trial court has accomplished three things: findings of fact; declaration of legal principles; and, application of law to the specific facts of this kidnapping case. At bar, the trial court has not erred in allowing the jury to determine the questions of fact. The majority opinion, below, recognizes this function of the trier of fact once a prima facie case was See, Walker v. State, 585 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 2d DCA established. The majority opinion answered the dissent of Judge 1991). Patterson pointing out that after the robbery, Petitioner ordered [with a gun] all four of the occupants to go to the back of the store and lie on the floor so that he might escape. Because of this admission (R 112-115), the majority held that it became a factual question, which the jury decided against Petitioner, as to whether Petitioner's movement of the victims fell within the teachings of Ferguson v. State, 533 So.2d 763 (Fla. 1988) and Faison v. State, 426 So.2d 963 (Fla. 1983). The jury was properly instructed as to the elements of kidnapping (R 163-168)

-9-

and there is direct evidentiary support. The court below gave deference to the jury application of law to the specific facts of the case. In other words, the majority declined to review the factual determinations de novo.

Whether "confinement and movement" of victims was incidental to the robbery was not a question of law because of Petitioner's own admissions. Thus, the majority was not incorrect in declining to substitute its judgment for that of the jury. In other words, a legitimate jury issue was established by the prosecution; and, Petitioner's admissions presented a jury issue as to the elements of kidnapping.

This case focuses on the scope of review of a Florida There is no question but that, as a matter of appellate court. law, the prosecution presented a prima facie case of kidnapping. Is there any question but that the female victims would not have moved to the back of the store and laid down [with one young woman becoming incontinent] had this armed Petitioner not threatened them? Were not these victims subjected to the threat of force and violence? Were these victims not compelled to comply with Petitioner's directives? The victims were seized; held against their will; and, detained while Petitioner escaped. In fact, Petitioner testified that his purpose in moving the victims within the store was so that "... they wouldn't stop me and lock the door." (R 112) What amounts to detention depends on the circumstances. Here, the prosecution presented evidence of the forcible seizing and confining of the victims; and, Petitioner was faced with the burden of producing evidence that

-10-

these victims were not detained against their respective will. In this case, Petitioner failed. In no way did these female victims voluntarily go the back of the store; lay on the floor; and, with one victim losing urinary control. Substantial evidence was produced to establish that the detention and movement:

(1) Must not be slight, inconsequential and merely incidental to the robbery;

(2) Must not be of the kind inherent in the nature of the other crime; and,

(3) Must have some significance independent of the other crime in that it makes the other crime substantially easier of commission or substantially lessens the risk of detention.

See, <u>Faison v. State</u>, 426 So.2d 963, 965 (Fla. 1983). Under §787.01(1)(a)2, Florida Statutes (1989), it is the fact, not the distance, of forcible movement and detention which constitutes kidnapping. Both <u>Faison</u> and <u>Ferquson v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 763 (Fla. 1988) construe the statute to prevent a "standstill kidnapping". And, it is the "standstill kidnapping" which will neither support a prima facie case or a verdict as a matter of law. At bar, four victims responded to the same force [where Petitioner represented he was armed]; wherein, they were ordered about and subjected to gross indignities establishing the four separate kidnappings.

The majority opinion has recognized that the Second District's scope of review is to correct trial court errors; and, here, there was none. The dissent attempts to "make law" by reweighing jury determined facts; or, act as a court of equity.

-11-

In other words, neither the direct appeal nor this discretionary However, the majority has review is to be a second trial. applied the correct principle of law. In other words, are the material findings of fact supported by the evidence contained in this record? Is there not competent and substantial evidence to support the kidnapping verdicts? Obviously, resolution of the credibility determinations is left to the trier of fact; and, the weight of the evidence is appropriate for determination in the trial court. See, Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1980), affirmed, 457 U.S. 31, 102 S.Ct. 2211, 72 L.Ed.2d 652 (1982) [an appellate court may not consider the weight of the evidence as a basis for the reversal of a criminal conviction]. And, there was no misapplication of law to undisputed facts. Here, a prima facie case of kidnapping was established; and, it was appropriate for the jury to consider the case. Then, Petitioner chose to testify and the evidence of kidnapping was disputed. Did not Petitioner deny that he was armed with a gun (R 96); and, did not one of the victims testify that she saw a qun? (R 37; 39)

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